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INTRODUCTION  
 

The District of Columbia Office of the Chief Technology Officer (OCTO) on behalf of the District of 
Columbia Taxicab Commissioner (DCTC) desires to improve the experience of taxicab passengers in 
the District, increase taxicab revenues, improve taxicab driver licensing enforcement, and enable fare 
payment by credit card.  The District would also like to improve oversight of taxicab operations via 
consolidated trip analysis, geospatial mapping, and revenue reporting.  This effort is called the 
Taxicab with Smart Chip Credential (TSCC) Initiative. 
 
The District wishes to enable for passengers a taxicab experience similar that in New York City and 
Boston, where there are advanced passenger systems in taxicabs.  However, unlike other major 
metropolitan taxicab initiatives, the District requires that the TSCC include the increased security of 
an integrated smart chip credential, specifically, the standardized, interoperable credential 
commonly referred to as Personal Identity Verification Interoperable (PIV-I). 
 
The District intends to use the information provided in response to this Request for Information 
(RFI) to develop a Request for Proposals (RFP), which would lead to the procurement of one or 
more TSCC solutions.  The District urges RFI recipients to provide working prototype models of 
respondents’ solutions, including the integrated credential capability, to aid in the District’s 
development of requirements for the contemplated RFP. 
 
The District envisions the procurement of a solution with a business arrangement where the vendor 
provides use of equipment and the associated services free of charge to both the District and the 
taxicab owner/operator.  Vendors would recoup costs from funding sources that may include 
advertising revenues, fees for additional service offerings using the provided solution, credit card 
transaction fees, and other sources.  Successful Respondents may also negotiate to share some 
portion of those proceeds with the District and/or the taxicab owner/operator. 
 
Under no circumstance does this RFI imply or obligate the District of Columbia to issue an RFP or 
otherwise carry out the actions described herein. The District will use the information provided in 
response to this RFI to better understand the viability of a prospective TSCC solution and to match 
the stated goals of the DC Taxicab Commissioner to specific business and technical requirements. 
 
The schedule for this RFI is as follows:  
 

Pre-response Informational Conference:  March 5, 2010  
Responses Due:  April 9, 2010  

 
Please direct all responses, questions, or requests for more information to: kirk.benson@dc.gov.  
During the RFI period, the District will publish responses to written questions as they become 
available. All interested parties should contact Kirk Benson at 1-202-724-4051 to be included on 
these distribution lists.  
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REQUEST FOR INFORMATION  

The District contemplates that the TSCC Initiative will create a public-private partnership combining 
private sector expertise, deployment models, and capital with the vision of the District’s Taxicab 
Commissioner, and the additional revenue-generation capabilities of the District’s licensed taxicab 
fleet.  Respondents are encouraged to be creative and offer solutions that meet all or part of the goals 
of the TSCC Initiative as outlined in this RFI. 

In addition to the questions contained herein, Respondents should also provide any other information 
that they believe may assist the District of Columbia in evaluating the feasibility of the TSCC 
Initiative contemplated.  In addition, based upon your experience with deployment of taxicab or 
credentialing solutions, please also suggest other requirements or features that you think the District 
should consider for its contemplated RFP.  Responses to this RFI are limited to 30 single-spaced 
pages. 

A. Basic Goals and Broad Requirements 

The District envisions issuing an RFP that includes the following broad requirements, but part of the 
purpose of this RFI is to solicit respondent comment on whether these are the correct requirements 
and the ease or difficulty of implementing a specific solution that would meet them.  Please describe 
how you would meet the following: 

1. Driver authentication.  The District contemplates a single, secured and hardened solution 
possibly composed of a number of otherwise separate components, such as meter, driver 
console, passenger information monitor, and other elements.  The solution will be fully 
activated only upon driver authentication.  The solution will be configurable to require 
authentication (including re-authentication at specified time intervals) with any one or more 
of the following methods: 
 

• Personal Identification Number (PIN) 
• Personal Identity Verification Interoperable (PIV-I) credential.  For this RFI, a 

PIV-I credential is defined as a credential compliant with the guidance set forth in 
Personal Identity Verification Interoperability for Non-Federal Issuers, issued 
by the Federal CIO Council in May 2009 (available at 
http://www.idmanagement.gov/documents/PIV_IO_NonFed_Issuers_May2009.p
df ). 

• Biometric such as fingerprint 
 

2. Credit card transaction.  Passengers must be able to pay via a credit card without handing the 
card to the driver (typically, the credit card reader is located in the passenger compartment).  
Credit card transaction information will display on a monitor in the passenger compartment, 
and the passenger may input an amount for tip.  Passenger receives transaction confirmation 
and printed receipt. 
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3. Passenger interface.  There will be a display in the passenger compartment with touch screen 

capabilities enabling the passenger to retrieve and enter desired information.  Choices of 
information will include at least a GPS reference map showing location and destination of 
passenger with zoom capabilities, current media content, District-specified content, and 
name, photo and license number of the driver (derived from the PIV-I credential in a 
configuration that involves authentication by credential).  Information may also include geo-
referenced advertisements showing places of interest, entertainment and dining if possible 
along the route taken and other revenue-generating content.  The following are proposed 
offerings to be displayed on the Passenger Information Monitor. 

• News Updates  
• Weather Updates  
• Financial Reports  
• Location Directories  
• Advertising / Specials Promotion  
• Current Location (passenger moving map)  
• Fare Accumulation  
• Public Service Announcements 

 
4. Driver interface.  The solution will include a driver interactive capability for messaging to 

and from dispatch.  The District is particularly interested in specific features that will be of 
benefit to the driver and/or the taxicab company. 
 

5. Trip reporting.  The solution will provide and transmit electronic trip reports for all trips.  
Reports will meet DC Taxicab Commission reporting formats and should be submitted on a 
trip-by-trip basis as the trips occur but in no event less frequent than every 24 hours.  The 
electronic trip reports will be automatically generated by passenger pickup, as determined by 
the meter being turned on and the passenger payment process concluding the trip and will 
include the taxicab identifier and authenticated driver information. 
 

6. Taxicab location.  The solution will broadcast a GPS signal to a web portal that can be 
accessed by the DC Taxicab Commissioner, as well as the taxicab owner/operator.  The web 
portal will show a geo-reference display including the taxicab status and authenticated driver 
on a street map using commercial off the shelf mapping tools.  Even if the District adopts 
more than one respondent’s solution, the District wishes to aggregate all taxicab status data 
into a single web tool; respondents should provide information on how best to accomplish 
this goal. 

B. Additional Requested Information  
 

The District particularly desires information from organizations with substantial experience in 
deployed municipal taxicab solutions and creative application of smart chip credentials.  In addition 
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to the basic goals and broad requirements described above, the District also asks Respondents to 
provide comment on the following.   
 

1. Business Model.  The District of Columbia is aware of current business models for providing 
taxicab solutions similar to that contemplated for the TSCC Initiative.  As described above, 
the District envisions a business arrangement where the vendor provides use of equipment 
and the associated services free of charge to both the District and the taxicab owner/operator.  
Vendors would recoup costs from funding sources that may include advertising revenues, 
fees for additional service offerings using the provided solution, credit card transaction fees, 
and other sources.  Successful Respondents may also negotiate to share some portion of those 
proceeds with the District and/or the taxicab owner/operator.  The District urges Respondents 
to provide information on creative business models that you think might meet the District’s 
needs. 
 

2. Credentials.  The District recognizes that there may be few vendors in the taxicab industry 
with substantial working knowledge of PIV-I credentials and associated federal standards, 
including Federal Information Processing Standards Publication 201 (FIP-201).  Taxicab 
industry respondents may wish to consider working with companies identified on the U.S. 
General Services Administration (GSA) approved products list 
http://fips201ep.cio.gov/apl.php to bring credentialing knowledge and experience to the 
respondent’s response to this RFI.  In addition, Respondents may wish to contact any of the 
number of non-profit organizations with experience with PIV-I smart card technologies.  The 
District strongly encourages organizations to collaborate in responses to this RFI and clarify 
for the District the full scope of work required to achieve the objectives of the TSCC 
Initiative. 
 

3. Proposed Solution Overview.  Please provide responses to the below questions regarding 
your proposed solution. 

 
a. Please provide an overview of your company, explaining your primary lines of business, 

size (gross annual revenues), geographic areas served, and length of time in your current 
business.  Please briefly describe any similar projects already deployed.  

b. Please briefly define your proposed overall business model for achieving the objectives 
of the TSCC Initiative.  

c. Please describe how the business model of your proposed solution would meet the goals 
of the TSCC Initiative and the needs of independent, medium and large taxicab 
companies.  

d. What business model do you believe best accomplishes the goals of the District, while 
best protecting the District’s financial interests?  If revenue from advertising is a 
component of a respondent’s model, what steps should the District take to protect its 
citizens from potentially offensive content?  

e. Please identify what other services, if any, could be offered as part of the TSCC Initiative 
via your proposed solution.  
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f. In what ways could the District leverage the TSCC Initiative for the benefit of 
government agencies?  

g. Please define any/all one-time and ongoing obligations of the District contemplated in 
your proposed solution and business model.  

h. How long will it take you to implement your solution?  What is your anticipated timeline 
for the services to be available for deployment to the taxicab companies and the DC 
Taxicab Commissioner’s back office?  

i. Does your proposed solution enable Wi-Fi, Bluetooth or other connectivity options for 
taxicab passengers?  

j. Please provide physical specifications of any hardware that you would expect to deploy 
in order to support your proposed solution.  How have you dealt with aesthetic 
requirements or regulations imposed by other cities?  Please include pictures of any 
hardware that you have used in similar deployments. 

k. The District expects the solutions provide service at least on par with services generally 
available in other major metropolitan areas.  Please provide a list of cities where you are 
aware of similar deployments (both with and without the PIV-I component), including 
any description of the deployments that you might have.  Please also provide contact 
information for city officials cognizant of these other deployments. 

l. What is the guaranteed minimum performance and service levels provided by your 
solution?  

m. How does your solution handle credit card security (denial of service attacks etc.) and 
privacy?  

n. How does your solution handle authentication in other deployments, and how do you 
propose to handle authentication in your TSCC Initiative solution?  

 

4. Back Office Taxicab Commissioner Proposed Desktop/Computer Solution.    

a. Does your proposed solution provide computers to the DC Taxicab Commissioners 
Office to support a back office portion of your solution?  If so, please specify.  Whether 
your solution provides computers or not, what kind of computer and monitor 
configuration would be optimal for the Taxicab Commissioner’s Office?  

b. Please describe your procedure for periodically upgrading hardware/software provided as 
part of your proposed solution for the TSCC Initiative.  
 

5. Proposed Training and Support.  

a. How does your solution provide necessary training for taxicab dispatchers, drivers, and 
other users, including the DC Taxicab Commission?  



Request for Information and Comment 
 

District of Columbia Taxicab with  
Smart Chip Credential Initiative  Page 7                                           

 

b. Do you have a train-the-trainer model that has been tested and successfully employed to 
provide the training required for your solution?  Please provide information regarding 
successful deployments of your training model.  

c. Please describe how taxicab companies and the Taxicab Commissioner’s office would 
report problems and request technical assistance under your proposed solution.  What 
solutions would you employ to ensure proper maintenance of equipment (for example, 
what virus protection mechanisms would you utilize?).  

CONCLUSION 

The District of Columbia thanks you in advance for your thoughtful responses.  With your help, we 
will provide improved convenience, security and functionality to the District’s taxicab passengers, 
drivers and service providers. 


